

**BYLAWS  
OF  
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF INVESTORS CORPORATION**

**Proposed changes approved on May 10, 2024**

**I.**

**NAME, OFFICES, AND PURPOSES**

1.1 **NAME.** The name of the corporation is National Association of Investors Corporation, doing business under the assumed name BetterInvesting.

1.2 **PLACES OF BUSINESS.** The corporation shall have its principal place of business in Troy, Michigan, and may have such other places of business within or without the State of Michigan as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

1.3 **RESIDENT AGENT.**

1.3.1 *Appointment.* The corporation shall designate a registered office and appoint a Resident Agent who may be either an individual resident in this state or a corporation authorized to transact business in this state and having a business office identical with such registered office.

1.3.2 *Change.* The corporation may change its registered office or its Resident Agent, or both, by resolution duly adopted by the Board. Such change shall become effective on the filing of a certified copy of such resolution in the office of the State Administrator and upon the Administrator's endorsement thereof unless a subsequent effective time is set forth.

1.4 **PURPOSES.** The purposes for which the corporation is organized are as follows:

1.4.1 To receive and administer funds and to operate exclusively for charitable, scientific, or educational purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code (the Code), including providing programs of investment information and education to enable individuals to become successful investors.

1.4.2 To give funds and property from time to time to other organizations to be used (or held for use) directly in carrying out such purposes.

1.4.3 To acquire, own, dispose of and deal with real and personal property and to apply gifts, grants, and bequests and their proceeds to further such purposes.

1.4.4 To do such things and to perform such acts to accomplish its purposes as the Board of Directors may determine to be appropriate and as are not forbidden by section 501 (c)(3) of the Code, with all the power conferred on nonprofit corporations under the laws of the State of Michigan.

1.5 **NONPROFIT OPERATION.** The corporation shall be operated exclusively for charitable, scientific, and educational purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(3) of the Code as a nonprofit corporation. No director of the corporation shall have any title to or interest in the corporate property or earnings in the director's individual or private capacity, and no part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the benefit of any trustee, director, officer or any private shareholder or individual. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall consist of carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not participate in or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public office.

## **II.**

### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

2.1 **BOARD OF DIRECTORS.** The property, business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors, which is the governing body of the corporation. The corporation is organized on a nonstock directorship basis and, except as otherwise provided by law, all matters which are subject to membership vote or other action in the case of a Michigan nonprofit membership corporation shall be approved by action of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall meet as often as necessary to conduct the business of the corporation, but at least annually.

2.2 **NUMBER, TERM OF OFFICE, QUALIFICATIONS AND SELECTION.**

2.2.1 *Number.* The Board of Directors of the corporation shall consist of not fewer than five (5) persons and not more than sixteen (16) persons. At no time shall more than twenty five percent (25%) of all Board members consist of persons considered a Management Director (as hereafter defined). A Management Director will be a director who does not qualify as a non-Management Director. A director will be a non-Management Director if, during the relevant time period designated below, he or she has not been, or a relative, as defined herein, has not been, any of the following:

- (a) employed by the corporation or any affiliate, as defined herein, within the last three (3) years.
- (b) an employee, director, or owner of an accounting or legal firm of the corporation or an affiliate, that was paid more than \$5,000 during any twelve (12) consecutive month period within the last three (3) years.

- (c) an employee, director, or owner of a consulting firm (other than an accounting or legal firm) of the corporation or an affiliate, that was paid more than \$5,000 within the last twelve (12) months.
- (d) the \$5,000 compensation limit will not include any reimbursement of reasonable expenses actually incurred in the performance of duties as a director of the corporation, but will include any commission based compensation.
- (e) For purposes of this Section 2.2.1, “relative” will include any parent, child, spouse, sibling, uncle, aunt, niece or nephew of a director, and “affiliate” will include any entity in which the corporation has a more than 20% ownership or voting interest.

The first term of office for each member of the Initial Board shall be staggered so that, as nearly as possible, the terms of two of such Initial Board members shall expire at the end of each of the corporation’s fiscal year-ends. Terms of the whole Board of Directors shall be staggered so that at least one and not more than four terms shall expire each year.

*2.2.3 Terms of Office.* Each director may serve a maximum of three (3) consecutive terms, consisting of up to four (4) years per term. If a Director is elected to a term of less than four (4) years per term that will be one of the maximum of three (3) terms permitted of any Director. A Director whose term of office has expired shall continue to hold office until his or her successor has been appointed or the Board of Directors expressly votes not to appoint a successor. If a Director whose term of office has expired continues to hold office, the Nominating and Governance Committee will review that Director’s continued service annually and make a recommendation to the NAIC Board of Directors as needed.

*2.2.4 Qualifications.* All Directors shall be members of the corporation in accordance with the requirements described in Article V of these bylaws throughout their term of office. Directors that are not members of the corporation at the time of their election to the Board of Directors shall become members of the corporation within thirty days of their election.

*2.2.5 Selection.* The Nominating and Governance Committee may nominate for election to the Board of Directors at least one person for each member of the Board whose term expires at the next annual meeting. The Nominating and Governance Committee shall consist of five (5) members, all appointed by the Board of Directors (and such appointees cannot be Management Directors). Nominations to the corporation’s Board shall be approved by the affirmative vote of a least 66⅔% of the Nominating and Governance Committee, before being presented to the Board of Directors at the next meeting where, in order to serve on the corporation’s Board, the nominee must be elected by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors.

2.3 REMOVAL. Any director may be removed from office with or without cause at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

2.4 VACANCIES. Vacancies occurring in the Board of Directors by reason of death, resignation, removal or other inability to serve or because of an increase in the number of directors shall be filled in accordance with the procedures described in Section 2.2.4. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the unexpired portion of the term.

2.5 ANNUAL MEETING. Unless the Board of Directors shall otherwise determine, the annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held on the third Thursday of September of each year. At the annual meeting, the Board of Directors shall elect officers and consider such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting. If less than a quorum of the directors appear for an annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the holding of such annual meeting shall not be required and matters which might have been taken up at the annual meeting may be taken up at any later regular, special or annual meeting or by consent resolution.

2.6 REGULAR AND SPECIAL MEETINGS. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such times and places as the directors may from time to time determine at a prior meeting or as shall be directed or approved by the vote or written consent of all the directors. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair of the Board or by any two directors then in office. Oral, electronic or written notice of the time and place of all special meetings shall be given to each director not less than two nor more than ten days before the meeting, but no notice of adjourned meetings need be given. Special meetings may be held at any time without notice if all the directors are present or if those not present waive notice of the time and place of such meeting by electronic transmission or other writing, either before or after the holding of such meeting. Attendance of a director at a meeting constitutes a waiver of notice of the meeting, except when a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

2.7 ACTION WITHOUT A MEETING. Any action required or permitted at any meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if all of the directors or committee members entitled to vote thereon consent in writing. The written consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings and shall have the same effect as a vote for all purposes.

2.8 COMMITTEES. The Board of Directors, by resolution passed by a majority of the members of the Board then in office, may appoint a Performance and Compensation Committee, Finance and Audit Committee, an Executive Committee and such other committees as it may deem appropriate. Each such committee shall consist of at least one member of the Board of Directors and may consist of additional members of the Board of Directors and one or more members of the corporation identified in Section 5.1 of these bylaws. Each committee shall have and may exercise such powers

as shall be conferred by these bylaws or authorized by the resolution appointing it, to the extent permitted by applicable law. A majority of any such committee may determine its action and may fix the time and place of its meetings, unless provided otherwise by the Board of Directors. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of a committee (who may replace an absent or disqualified member at a meeting of the committee), to fill vacancies in, to change the size or membership of and to discharge any such committee. Each such committee shall keep such records of its acts and proceedings and shall submit such reports to the Board of Directors as the Board may require from time to time. Failure to maintain such records or submit such reports, or failure of the Board to approve any action indicated therein will not, however, invalidate such action to the extent it has been carried out by the corporation prior to the time the record of such action was, or should have been, submitted to the Board of Directors as herein provided.

2.9 QUORUM AND VOTING REQUIREMENTS. A majority of the directors then in office and a majority of any committee appointed by the Board constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business. The vote of a majority of the directors or committee members present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board or the committee, except as a larger vote may be required by the laws of the State of Michigan, these bylaws or the articles of incorporation. A member of the Board or of a committee may participate in a meeting by conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear one another. Participation in a meeting in this manner constitutes presence in person at the meeting.

2.10 POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Board of Directors shall have charge, control and management of the business, property, personnel, affairs and funds of the corporation and shall have the power and authority to do and perform all acts and functions permitted for an organization described in section 501(c)(3) of the Code not inconsistent with these bylaws, the articles of incorporation, or the laws of the State of Michigan.

2.11 COMPENSATION. The Board of Directors may establish reasonable compensation for officers and members of any committee appointed by the Board. The Board, by affirmative vote of a majority of directors in office and irrespective of any personal interest of any of them, may establish reasonable compensation of directors for service to the corporation as directors, officers and/or members of any committee appointed by the Board, and may provide for reimbursement of any reasonable expenses incurred in attending meetings.

2.12 NOTICE AND CONSENTS BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION. In addition to any other form of notice or consent to or from a Director or member of a committee permitted by the Articles of Incorporation or these bylaws, any notice or consent given by a form of electronic transmission to which the Director or committee member has consented is effective. For this purpose, "electronic transmission" means any form of communication that meets all of the following:

- (1) It does not directly involve the physical transmission of paper.
- (2) It creates a record that may be retained and retrieved by the recipient.
- (3) It may be directly reproduced in paper form by the recipient through an automated process.

### **III.**

#### **OFFICERS**

3.1 **ELECTION OR APPOINTMENT.** The Nominating and Governance Committee shall nominate a Chair of the Board, Vice Chair, Secretary, and Treasurer, and if desired, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. The Board of Directors as soon as may be practicable after the annual election of the directors each year, shall elect a Chair of the Board, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer, and if desired, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers from the Nominating and Governance Committee's nominees for those offices. The same person may hold any two or more offices, but no officer shall execute, acknowledge or verify any instrument in more than one capacity. The Board may also appoint such other officers and agents as it may deem necessary for the transaction of the business of the corporation.

3.2 **TERM OF OFFICE.** The term of office of all officers shall be one year or until their respective successors are elected or appointed, but any officer may be removed from office by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, with or without cause. Such removal shall not prejudice the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. The Board of Directors shall fill a vacancy in any office occurring for whatever reason in accordance with the procedures described in Section 3.1. In case of the absence or disability of any officer of the corporation and of any person hereby authorized to act in that officer's place during periods of absence or disability, the Board of Directors may, from time to time, delegate the powers and duties of such officer to any other officer, or any Director, or any other person whom it may elect or appoint.

3.3 **CHAIR OF THE BOARD.** The Chair of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and at all meetings of the members. He or she shall perform such other duties as the Board of Directors shall prescribe.

3.4 **VICE CHAIR.** The Vice Chair shall preside at all meetings of the members and directors in the absence of a Chair of the Board and he or she may delegate the role of presiding officer to any other person. If the position of Chair of the Board is vacant or the Chair of the Board is incapacitated or otherwise unable to perform his or her duties, the Vice Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair of the Board until a new Chair of the Board is elected or the Chair of the Board is no longer incapacitated or otherwise unable to perform his or her duties.

3.5 THE SECRETARY. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board and all meetings of the members and record all votes and the minutes of all proceedings in a book to be kept for that purpose and shall perform like duties for the standing committees when required. The Secretary shall give or cause to be given notice of all meetings of the members and special meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, the Chair of the Board under whose supervision he or she shall act. Where two signatures are required, the Secretary shall execute with the Chair of the Board all authorized conveyances, contracts or other obligations in the name of the corporation, except as otherwise directed by the Board of Directors.

3.6 THE TREASURER. The Treasurer, a non-management director with no financial interest in the corporation, shall oversee the financial activities of the corporation utilizing the corporation's financial staff and independent public accountant. The Treasurer shall ensure an account of all financial transactions and of the financial condition of the corporation is provided to the President and directors at the regular meetings of the Board, or whenever they may require it. The Treasurer shall chair the corporation's Finance and Audit Committee and shall lead that committee in reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on proposed annual budgets, audits, tax returns, strategic plans, cash-flow projections, and investments. The Treasurer shall also serve on the corporation's Executive Committee.

3.7 ASSISTANT SECRETARIES AND ASSISTANT TREASURERS. In the absence of the Secretary or the Treasurer, the Assistant Secretaries and the Assistant Treasurers, respectively, in the order designated by the Board of Directors, or lacking such designation, then as designated by the Chair of the Board, shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of such Secretary or Treasurer and shall perform such other duties as the Board of Directors shall prescribe.

#### IV.

#### **DUTY OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS; INDEMNIFICATION**

4.1 DUTY OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. In discharging his or her duties, a director or an officer, when acting in good faith, may rely upon the opinion of counsel for the corporation, the report of an independent appraiser selected with reasonable care by the Board, or financial statements of the corporation represented to him or her to be correct by the Chair of the Board or the Treasurer, or stated in a written report by an independent public or certified public accountant or firm of such accountants fairly to reflect the financial condition of the corporation.

INDEMNIFICATION. Each person who is or was a director, officer, or member of a committee of the corporation and each person who serves or has served at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, partner, employee or agent of any other corporation, partnership (including the nominee partnership NAIC Associates), joint venture, trust or other enterprise shall be indemnified by the corporation to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the State of Michigan as they may

be in effect from time to time. The corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board, grant rights to indemnification to any employee, non-director volunteer, or agent of the corporation to the fullest extent provided under the laws of the State of Michigan as they may be in effect from time to time. The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any such person against any liability asserted against and incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the corporation would have power to indemnify such person against such liability under the preceding sentences.

## V.

### MEMBERSHIP

5.1 CLASSES OF MEMBERS. The corporation shall have two classes of members, consisting of the Investment Club Members and Individual Members. Other classes of members may from time to time be designated by the Board of Directors in its discretion.

5.1.1 *Investment Club Members.* The corporation's Investment Club Members shall consist of those investment clubs which from time to time satisfy the requirements of Section 5.2 of these bylaws. No other person or entity shall be entitled to be an Investment Club Member.

5.1.2 *Individual Members.* The corporation's Individual Members shall consist of those persons who from time to time satisfy the requirements of Section 5.2 of these bylaws. No other person or entity shall be entitled to be an Individual Member.

5.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR MEMBERSHIP. The requirements of this Section 5.2 shall be applicable to Investment Club Members and Individual Members, and such other classes of Members as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time.

5.2.1 *Application for Membership.* Each applicant for membership shall provide the corporation with a completed membership application submitted by the applicant, in a form approved by the Board of Directors, together with payment of the applicable dues and assessments established by the Board of Directors.

5.2.2 *Dues and Membership Rules and Regulations.* The Board of Directors shall establish the dues and assessments to be paid from time to time by all classes of members and may by rule or regulation prescribe additional membership requirements for such members from time to time.

5.2.3 *Denial of Membership.* The corporation, acting through its Board of Directors, reserves the right to deny membership to any person or entity for any reason which is not unlawful.



5.3 TERM OF MEMBERSHIP. Subject to any applicable rules and regulations prescribed by the Board of Directors, the membership of an Investment Club Member or an Individual Member shall continue unless revoked pursuant to Section 5.4 of these bylaws; *provided, however*, that default in the payment of any applicable dues and assessments after the same are due and payable, subject to any grace period which may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, shall operate as a forfeiture of the membership of any such member. Membership shall also terminate upon the resignation of a member or death of an Individual Member.

5.4 REVOCATION OF MEMBERSHIP. The corporation, by action of its Board of Directors, reserves the right to revoke the membership of any person or entity for any reason which is not unlawful.

5.5 NONTRANSFERABILITY. Membership in the corporation shall not be transferable.

5.6 MEMBERSHIP RIGHTS. Except as otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation or these bylaws or by law, the members of the corporation shall have the following rights:

5.6.1 *Investment Club Members and Individual Members.* Investment Club Members and Individual Members shall have such rights as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors; *provided, however*, that in no event shall such members have any liquidation rights, preferences, or voting rights, except as provided in Section 5.7 and Article VII of these bylaws.

5.7 NOTICE AND CONSENTS BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION. In addition to any other form of notice or consent to or from a member permitted by the Articles of Incorporation or these bylaws, any notice or consent given by a form of electronic transmission to which a member has consented is effective. For this purpose, “electronic transmission” means any form of communication that meets all of the following:

- (1) It does not directly involve the physical transmission of paper.
- (2) It creates a record that may be retained and retrieved by the recipient.
- (3) It may be directly reproduced in paper form by the recipient through an automated process.

## VI.

### CORPORATE ACTIONS

6.1 DEPOSITS. The Board of Directors shall, from time to time, designate banks, trust companies or other depositories in which all funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited to the credit of the corporation.

6.2 VOTING SECURITIES HELD BY THE CORPORATION. Shares owned by the corporation in another corporation may be voted by the Chair of the Board or by proxy appointed by the Chair of the Board or in their absence, by the Vice Chair or by proxy appointed by the Vice Chair or in their absence, by the Secretary or by proxy appointed by the Secretary or in the absence of the aforementioned persons, by the Treasurer or by proxy appointed by the Treasurer. The Board of Directors may appoint some other person or committee established by the provisions of Section 2.8 of Article II to vote such shares. The corporation shall not directly or indirectly vote any shares issued by it.

## VII.

### CORPORATE DIVISIONS

#### 7.1 ESTABLISHMENT.

7.1.1 *Procedure for Establishment.* The Board of Directors may from time to time establish such divisions of the corporation as it may determine to be necessary or desirable to further the purposes of the corporation. The Board of Directors shall designate the class or classes of members of the corporation eligible to participate in the business and affairs of each division.

7.1.2 *Recognized Divisions.* As of December 8, 2006, the following have been established as divisions of the corporation:

BetterInvesting Volunteer Advisory Board

7.2 SELECTION OF BOARD OF ADVISORY DIRECTORS; ADOPTION OF BYLAWS; FIRST MEETING. The Board of Directors shall select the initial Board of Advisory Directors of each division, which shall consist of three or more Advisory Directors, and may adopt bylaws for each division, subject to Section 7.3. Any Advisory Director of a division may call the first meeting of the Board of Advisory Directors of such division upon not less than three days' notice by mail to each Advisory Director of such division. A majority of the Advisory Directors of a division constitutes a quorum for the first meeting of the Board of Advisory Directors of such division. At the first meeting, the Board of Advisory Directors of a division may adopt bylaws if none have been adopted by the Board of Directors, elect officers, and transact such other business as may come before the meeting, subject to Section 7.4 of these bylaws. All actions taken by the Board of Advisory Directors of a division shall be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors of the corporation.

7.3 DIVISION BYLAWS. The bylaws of a division may contain any provision for the regulation and management of the affairs of the division not

inconsistent with law or the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the corporation, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors of the corporation.

7.4 GENERAL POWERS. The business and affairs of each division shall be managed by its Board of Advisory Directors in compliance with (a) the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the corporation, including, without limitation, the provisions of Sections 1.4 and 1.5 of these bylaws, and (b) the bylaws, if any, of such division, subject in each case to the approval of the Board of Directors of the corporation.

## **VIII.**

### **FISCAL YEAR; SEAL; NOTICES**

8.1 FISCAL YEAR. The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day of October of each year.

8.2 NOTICES. Any notice required by statute or by these bylaws to be given to the members, to the directors or to any officers of the corporation, unless otherwise provided herein or in any statute, shall be sufficient if given by depositing the same in a United States post office box or receptacle in a sealed, postpaid envelope, addressed to such member, trustee, director or officer at his or her last address as the same appears on the records of the corporation, and such notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time of such mailing.

## **IX.**

### **AMENDMENTS**

These bylaws may be altered or repealed, or new bylaws may be adopted in lieu thereof by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the corporation then in office.